


 
 

 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

Thursday, February 27, 2025  

11:00 am – 12:15 pm  

 

Florida State University  

Westcott Building 

Conference Room 211A 

 222 South Copeland St.  

Tallahassee, FL 32306 

 

The agenda will be followed in subsequent order and items may be heard earlier than the scheduled time. 

 

I. Call to Order and Welcome 

Trustee Maximo Alvarez, Chair  

 

II. Approval of Minutes 

November 20, 2024, Meeting Minutes  

III. Action Items for Consideration of Recommendation to the Board of Trustees 

Ms. Carolyn Egan, Vice President for Legal Affairs and General Counsel 

 

A. Action Item I: Request for Approval: To Seek a New Institutional Accreditor  

B. Action Item II: Request for Approval: Institutional Risk Management Charter  

C. Action Item III: Request for Approval: The John and Mable Ringling Museum of Art 

Foundation, Inc. Bylaw Revision  

D. Action Item IV: Request for Approval: Nominations to the Board of Directors of the 

John and Mable Ringling Museum of Art Foundation, Inc.  

 

IV. Informational Items and Standing Updates  

Trustee Maximo Alvarez, Chair  

Ms. Carolyn Egan, Vice President for Legal Affairs and General Counsel 

 

a) University Regulations and Policy Comprehensive Review Update 

 

V. Open Forum for Trustees  

Trustee Maximo Alvarez, Chair  

 

VI. Adjournment  

Trustee Maximo Alvarez, Chair  



MEETING MINUTES 
November 20, 2024



 

1 
 

MEETING MINUTES (DRAFT)  

FSU Board of Trustees 

Governance Committee 

Wednesday, November 20, 2024 

10:30 a.m. 

 

North Florida Innovation Labs 

1729 West Paul Dirac Drive 

Tallahassee, FL 32310 

Room 103 

 

Committee Members in Attendance: Board Chair Peter Collins, Trustee John Thiel,  

Committee Members Absent: Committee Chair Bob Sasser, Trustee Vivian de las Cuevas-Diaz 

Committee Staff: Vice President for Legal Affairs & General Counsel Carolyn Egan 

Also in attendance:  Trustee Maximo Alvarez, Trustee Jim Henderson, Trustee Deborah Sargeant, 

Trustee Justin Roth, Trustee Drew Weatherford, Trustee Jackson Boisvert, Trustee Jorge Gonzalez, 

Trustee Bridget Birmingham, President Richard McCullough, Provost and Executive Vice 

President Jim Clark, Sr. Vice President Kyle Clark, Vice President Janet Kistner, Vice President 

Amy Hecht, Vice President Marissa Langston, Vice President Stacey Patterson, Vice President 

Marla Vickers, Assistant Vice President Dennis Schnittker, Chief Marketing Officer Susannah 

Wesley-Ahlschwede, Chief Legislative Affairs Officer Clay Ingram 

I. Call to Order and Welcome – The Governance Committee was called to order at 10:33 a.m. 

by Board Chair Collins.  

 

II. Approval of Minutes – The draft minutes from the September 12, 2024, meeting of the 

Governance Committee were approved without change. 

 

III. Action Items for Consideration of Recommendation to the Board of Trustees –  
 

a. Action Item I: Request for Approval: Appointment to the Board of Directors of the 

Florida State University Magnet Research and Development, Inc. - The re-

appointment of Dr. David Larbalestier to the FSU Magnet Research and Development, 

Inc., was approved.  

 



 

2 
 

b. Action Item II: Request for Approval: President’s Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Goals – 

Board Chair Collins indicated that the President has reduced the numbers of goals for 

2024-2025. President McCullough stated that the Board indicated that it wanted goals 

that were more metrics-driven and measurable, so he has revised his goals accordingly. 

They are a work-in-progress. Board Chair Collins stated that specifics and target goals 

have been added, and he walked through the following six goals:  (1) Invest in student 

success to drive academic excellence; (2) Boost or maintain metrics that impact key 

national rankings, (3) Continue to build FSU’s research and entrepreneurial excellence 

by establishing new initiatives and complete those ongoing, (4) Improve fundraising 

efforts to support the university, (5) Be a national leader in the student athlete experience, 

and (6) Expand FSU initiatives to be a leader fully committed in making a positive impact 

in our communities. President McCullough stated that some of the goals are “stretch 

goals” that cannot be reached in one year. Trustee Thiel noted that the metrics allow the 

goals to be more nuanced. There was discussion on how to evaluate the President if a 

particular goal is not completely met during the year, but progress has been made. 

President McCullough noted that the goals are all about improving FSU, but we may 

reach a point where there is no more room to improve on a certain metric (such as 

increasing SAT scores). Each goal has a different level of difficulty. There was 

explanation and discussion regarding Goal #2, including metrics related to Pell recipients, 

which are challenging to continue to increase. President McCullough noted that student 

success is a hallmark of a great institution, and that FSU is on the hard part of the curve. 

Trustee Weatherford indicated that it may be helpful to have additional context about the 

various goals at the time of evaluation so that progress can be determined. There was also 

discussion about looking at subjective factors during the President’s evaluation, 

including “the how,” in addition to the metrics. The Committee approved the President’s 

2024-2025 goals. 

 

c. Action Item III: Request for Approval: Changes to FSU Board of Trustees 

Operating Procedures – Vice President Egan walked through the proposed changes to 

the Board’s Operating Procedures, two of which were prompted by the Board. The first 

has to do with recommendations to the Board of Governors related to candidates from 

foreign countries of concern needing a supermajority of votes in favor (Section 304). The 

second of these changes was from Trustee Sargeant. Section 203 outlines the agenda of 

meetings and would now include a Pledge of Allegiance for all live meetings and a 

Moment of Silent Reflection. Vice President Egan walked through other minor changes, 

including additional information about sovereign immunity, clarifications regarding 

emergency meetings, and changes to the agenda order. Trustee Boisvert asked if the 

redline in Section 203(a) regarding approval of the agenda was a change. Vice President 



 

3 
 

Egan noted that it clarified and reflected the current practice. The Committee approved 

the proposed changes to the Board’s Operating Procedures. 

 

 

d. Action Item IV: Request for Approval:  Repeal of FSU Regulation 2.004 – 

University Attorney – Vice President Egan explained the proposed repeal and provided 

a brief update on the project to update University’s regulations. She noted that one 

example of a regulation that was reviewed as part of the updating project is Regulation 

FSU-2.004, University Attorney. Upon review, she determined that it was no longer 

accurate and needed to be repealed, as there is “no gatekeeping” to discourage 

departments from utilizing legal services. She may bring a rewrite of the regulation in 

the future. The Committee approved the repeal of the regulation. 

 

IV. Informational Items and Standing Updates 

 

a. University Regulation and Policy Comprehensive Review and Update – Vice 

President Egan stated that there will be approximately twenty regulations coming 

to the Board at tomorrow’s meeting for amendment or repeal and this updating 

project is continuing. 

 

V. Open Forum for Committee Members – McKinsey consultants presented an 

organizational structure report. 

 

VI. Adjournment – The meeting was adjourned at 12:37 p.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ACTION ITEM I 



  

  

  

ACTION ITEM I 

February 27, 2025 
 

SUBJECT:  Request for Approval to Seek a New Institutional Accreditor  

  

  

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION  

  

Request authorization to seek approval from the United States Department of Education (ED) to 

apply for membership with the Higher Learning Commission   

  

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION   

  

Section 1008.47, Florida Statutes (Postsecondary Education Institution Accreditation), and 

Board of Governors Regulation 3.006 (Accreditation)  

  

BACKGROUND INFORMATION  

 

In 2020, federal regulations removed the geographic restrictions associated with accreditation of 

higher education institutions in the United States.  As a result, institutions were permitted to seek 

accreditation with a federally recognized institutional accreditor from outside their geographic 

region.  There are six federally recognized institutional accreditors, including the university’s 

current institutional accreditor, the Southern Association of Schools and Colleges Commission 

on Colleges (SACSCOC). 

 

Consistent with the change in federal regulations, the Florida Legislature enacted a 2022 law that 

removed the requirement for all Florida public institutions of higher education to be accredited 

by SACSCOC.  Additionally, the law requires each public Florida institution of higher education 

to seek membership with another federally recognized accreditor following its decennial 

reaffirmation with SACSCOC.   

 

SACSCOC reaffirmed the accreditation of Florida State University in December 2024 for a ten-

year period, allowing the institution to begin the process of seeking another institutional 

accreditor.  The institution’s current accreditation with SACSCOC expires in 2034. 



 

The process for changing institutional accreditation agencies begins with approval by the FSU 

Board of Trustees to pursue membership with another institutional accreditor selected by the 

university.  Then, the institution submits a formal request to the DE which states the voluntary 

nature of the change, demonstrates reasonable cause for the change, and explains how the change 

will strengthen the university and benefit students.  If approved by the FSU Board of Trustees 

and the DE, the institution will begin the application process with the Higher Learning 

Commission (HLC).   

 

The reasons for requesting to change to HLC include the following: 

 

1. HLC membership includes more public institutions in the Association of American 

Universities (AAU) and highly ranked in U.S. News and World Report than any other 

accrediting body, which expands the pool of peer reviewers from similarly accomplished 

and aspirational institutions, who are evaluating FSU 

2. HLC has a strong shared governance process in which member institutions actively 

engage in the development and vetting of policies and standards, along with 

implementation timelines that are well-planned and synchronized with the academic year 

3. HLC has the administrative infrastructure to accept new members, has offered high-

quality accreditation workshops and meetings for potential member institutions, and has 

provided resources to facilitate the process 

  

The time frame for changing institutional accreditors is dependent on several factors including 

the length of time that it takes for the DE approval, the preparation and submission of materials 

by the institution, and the subsequent review by HLC staff and peer reviewers.  It is anticipated 

that, following the review and approval (if granted) by DE, it may take at least 24 months to 

obtain membership with HLC. 

 

The anticipated cost for the accelerated process for initial accreditation with HLC is the 

following:  $5,000 for the application fee, $10,000 for the preliminary peer review, and $7,900 

plus expenses for the comprehensive evaluation for initial accreditation.  The application fee is 

credited against the comprehensive evaluation.  The annual dues for HLC membership would be 

approximately $34,000 (compared to approximately $25,148 for SACSCOC).  These costs do 

not include the personnel costs to handle the increased workload which is indeterminate. 

 

Florida State University will be required to maintain compliance with the SACSCOC policies 

and standards and simultaneously ensure compliance with the HLC policies and standards until 

initial accreditation is achieved with HLC. 

 

  

ADDITIONAL COMMITTEE CONSIDERATIONS  

  

N/A 

  

  

  



Supporting Documentation:  

 

1. Code of Federal Regulations 34 CFR 600.11 (Special Rules Regarding Institutional 

Accreditation or Preaccreditation) 

2. Section 1008.47, Florida Statutes (Postsecondary Education Institution Accreditation) 

3. Board of Governors Regulation 3.006 (Accreditation) 

4. U.S. Department of Education Letter to Accrediting Agencies 

5. U.S. Department of Education Guidance for Institutions Seeking to Change or Add 

Accrediting Agencies 

6. U.S. Department of Education Procedures for Institutions Seeking Approval of a Request 

to Change or Add Accrediting Agencies 

7. Higher Learning Commission – Accelerated Process for Initial Accreditation, Policy 

Number:  INST.B.20.032 

  

Submitted by: Office of the Provost   
 

















































ACTION ITEM II 



 
 

 

ACTION ITEM II 

February 27, 2025 

 

SUBJECT: Request for Approval of Institutional Risk Management Charter 

 

 

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 

 

Request approval of the Institutional Risk Management Charter 

 

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION  

 

Florida Constitution, Art. IX, Sec. 7; Chapter 1001, Part IV, Florida Statutes; Board of Governors 

Regulation 1.001; FSU Policy 1-1 

 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 

At the direction of the Board of Trustees, the University has established an Institutional Risk 

Management (IRM) Program and IRM Committee.  The IRM Charter sets forth the authority and 

outlines the purpose, objectives, responsibilities, composition and meeting frequency of the IRM 

Committee.  The IRM Committee will assist the Board of Trustees in fulfilling its oversight 

responsibilities regarding the identification, assessment, review, monitoring, management, and 

mitigation of institutional risk. 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMITTEE CONSIDERATIONS 

 

 

 

 

Supporting Documentation Included:  

1. Institutional Risk Management Chater (Draft) 

 

 

Submitted by: Office of Audit & Advisory Services 

 



 
 

FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY 
OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 

 
 

Page 1 of 4 
 

INSTITUTIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT CHARTER 
 
INTRODUCTION 
The Institutional Risk Management Charter (hereafter referred to as Charter) sets forth the 
authority and outlines the purpose, objectives, responsibilities, composition, and meeting 
frequency of the Institutional Risk Management Committee (hereafter referred to as Committee). 
The Committee will assist the Board of Trustees (hereafter referred to as BOT) in fulfilling its 
oversight responsibilities regarding the identification, assessment, review, monitoring, 
management, and mitigation of institutional risks. 
 
PURPOSE 
The Florida State University (hereafter referred to as University) BOT understands that effective 
risk management is critical to the strategic success of the University. The purpose of this Charter 
is to outline the objectives and approach to the Institutional Risk Management program (hereafter 
referred to as IRM) and provide guidance to the Committee regarding its goals and responsibilities. 
 
Management is responsible for the day-to-day activities of identifying, planning, and managing 
risks that can prevent their area of responsibility and the University from achieving its strategic 
objective. The Committee Chair, with support from the Committee, is responsible for 
implementing an IRM, monitoring its activity, and ensuring compliance with this Charter. 
 
OBJECTIVES 
The Committee will utilize the Enterprise Risk Management – Integrated Framework developed 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The COSO 
framework assists the Committee in developing and establishing a systematic approach to identify, 
assess, review, monitor, manage, and mitigate institutional risks. The IRM is a proactive function 
that will help: 
• Proactively manage risks at the college and department levels. 
• Assist the University President and BOT in making strategic decisions by providing a 

comprehensive assessment of critical risks and the relationship between critical risks. 
• Assist with promoting a culture of integrity and accountability that increases risk awareness 

and encourages the proactive identification of risks and controls throughout the University. 
• Incorporate key risk considerations into strategic decisions. 
 
AUTHORITY 
The Committee will serve in an advisement and recommendation role to the University President 
and BOT. The Committee will have the resources and authority to carry out its responsibilities, 
including direct and unrestricted access to the University’s management and non-management 
personnel. In addition, the Committee may seek advice and assistance to fulfill its responsibilities, 
as needed.  



 
 

FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY 
OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 

 
 

Page 2 of 4 
 

 
RESPONSIBILITIES 
Examples of the Committee tasks shall include the following: 
1. Increase awareness of the IRM across the University and recognition of emerging operational 

and strategic risks. 
2. Monitor, understand, and communicate the strategic plan, risk appetite, and risk profile. 
3. Develop, maintain, and periodically update the University risk register. 
4. Oversee the University’s implementation, oversight, and adherence to the significant risk 

limits and tolerances. 
5. Monitor, manage, and review the effectiveness of the IRM. 
6. Assign risk owners and approve action plans. 
7. Receive periodic reports on the development, implementation, and progress of mitigation 

plans. 
8. Resolve conflicting interests and priorities. 
 
In carrying out these responsibilities and duties, the Committee will foster an environment that 
encourages faculty and staff to freely raise risk issues without retaliation.  
 
COMPOSITION 
The University President selects the Chair and members of the Committee. The Sr. Vice President 
of Finance & Administration has been appointed as the Chair of the Committee. The following 
Divisions are currently represented on the Committee: 
• Office of Research 
• Office of General Counsel 
• The Graduate School 
• Division of Undergraduate Studies 
• Division of Student Affairs 
• Environmental, Health, & Safety 
• Office of Compliance and Ethics 
• University Business Administrators 
• College of Medicine 
• College of Arts and Sciences 
• Information Technology Services 
• University Advancement 
• International Travel, Safety, and Risk 



 
 

FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY 
OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 

 
 

Page 3 of 4 
 

• Athletics Department 
• Office of Human Resources 
• Division of Finance and Administration 
 
Other members may be added to or removed from the Committee based on the University’s current 
risk environment and strategic goals and initiatives. 
 
The Chief Audit Executive will monitor the activities of the Committee to reasonably ensure 
compliance, internal controls, and audit concerns are considered. In addition, the results of the 
annual risk assessment performed by the Office of Audit and Advisory Services will be taken into 
consideration when developing the University risk register. 
 
MEETINGS 
Meetings will be scheduled on a regularly occurring basis and will generally be held every three 
months. As a goal, agenda items will be identified and provided to the Committee at least one day 
prior to the scheduled meeting.  
 
The President, the Chair, or the Chief Audit Executive may call a meeting. The Chair shall preside 
over all meetings and in the absence of the Chair, the Chief Audit Executive will serve as the Chair. 
 
CHARTER REVIEW 
The Charter shall be reviewed annually, updated (e.g., new risks, changes in risk appetite(s), 
changes in strategy, etc.), and approved. 
 
ADDITIONAL RESOURCES 
• International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 
• Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) 
• Florida Department of Financial Services 
 
  

https://www.iso.org/home.html
https://www.coso.org/
https://www.myfloridacfo.com/division/risk


 
 

FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY 
OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 

 
 

Page 4 of 4 
 

APPROVAL 
 
President, Florida State University  Date 

 
FSU Board of Trustees, Chair, Governance Committee   Date 

 
Institutional Risk Management Committee, Chair  Date 

 
History:   
• Submitted to the Governance Committee for approval on 02/27/2025. 



ACTION ITEM III 



 

 

 

ACTION ITEM III 

February 27, 2025 

 

SUBJECT: Approval of DSO Bylaws Amendment for The John and Mable Ringling Museum of Art 

Foundation, Inc. 

 

 

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION 
 

Approve DSO Bylaws Amendment 

 

These amendments conform the Board composition to current requirements; incorporate minimum 

individual philanthropic requirement; clarify staffing of Foundation; clarify Executive Committee authority 

and reporting actions to the full Board. 

 

 

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF TRUSTEES ACTION 

 

FSU - 2.025 requires Board of Trustees approval of all DSO Bylaw amendments. 

 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 

The DSO Board reviewed its Bylaws to determine compliance with current law and regulation and made 

appropriate amendments. The Ringling Board of Directors approved the bylaw amendments on January 30, 

2025.  

 

ADDITIONAL BOARD CONSIDERATIONS 

 

Florida Board of Governors approval is not required. 

 

 

Supporting Documentation Included: Proposed Bylaw Amendments – changes blacklined.  

 

Submitted by: The Ringling Board of Directors.  



By Laws 
 

 

BYLAWS OF 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 

THE JOHN AND MABLE RINGLING MUSEUM OF ART FOUNDATION, INC. 
 
 
 

ARTICLE I 

NAME 

The name of the Corporation is The John and Mable Ringling Museum of Art 
Foundation, Inc. (sometimes hereinafter referred to as "Foundation"). 

 
 
 

ARTICLE II 

PURPOSES 

The purpose and function of The Foundation is to act as the direct support 
organization for The John and Mable Ringling Museum of Art (sometimes hereinafter referred 
to as "Museum"), under the direction of The Florida State University (sometimes hereinafter 
referred to as "FSU") as set forth the in Section 1004.45, Florida Statutes. 

 
 
 

ARTICLE III 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Section 1. Purpose. The Board of Directors of the Foundation (sometimes hereinafter 
referred to as "Board") is responsible for establishing policy for the Museum under the 
direction of the university president and overseeing collections of the Museum and all other 
matters provided under Section 1004.45, Florida Statutes. 

Section 2.  Number, Term and Appointment of Directors. The Board shall consist of no 
more than thirty-one members to be appointed by the President of FSU from a list of 
nominees provided by the Board. The chair of the university board of trustees shall also 
appoint at least one representative to the board of directors and the executive committee of any  
direct-support organization established under this section. The president of the university for  
which the direct-support organization is established, or his or her designee, shall also serve on  
the board of directors and the executive committee of any direct-support organization 
established to benefit that university. The Provost of the unicversity shall also serve on the 

board No less than one-third of the members shall be residents of Sarasota and Manatee 
Counties and two-thirds may reside elsewhere. The terms of office of the directors shall be 
three years. No member may serve more than two consecutive terms but may be 
reappointed to the Board after two one years from the expiration of the member's second 
term, except a chair or vice chair’s second term shall be extended for up to two years to fulfill 
such positions. It is not required that the maximum authorized thirty-one positions shall be 



By Laws 

2 

 

 

maintained at all times. The Chair of the Docent Advisory Council and the Chair of the 
Volunteer Services Advisory Council shall also serve as non-voting ex-officio members of  
the Board which shall not be included within the authorized thirty-one member maximum. 
Members shall be assigned a term at the time of election so as to balance the classes. 

 
Section 3. Duties of the Board of Directors. The Board shall be responsible for 

developing and monitoring the policies of the Museum in concert with its statutory mandate 
provided in Section 1004.45, Florida Statutes. The Board shall develop policy for the 
Museum, subject to the provisions of the John Ringling Will and the overall direction of the 
President of The Florida State University; and is invested with the power and authority to 
nominate a Museum Director, who is appointed by and serves at the pleasure of the 
President of FSU and shall report to the Provost of FSU or his/her designee, or such other 
individual as may be designated by FSU. Operating under its charter, these bylaws and such 
contracts as are approved by FSU, the Board shall set policies to maintain and preserve the 
collections of the Art Museum; the Circus Museum; the furnishings and objects in the Ringling 
home, referred to as the Ca’ d'Zan; and other objects of art and artifacts in the custody of the 
Museum. 

The Board shall also set policy for raising funds, submitting requests and receiving 
grants from various sources; for the receipt, holding, inventory and the administration of 
property and for the expenditures of such grants and donated funds to and for the benefit of 
Museum, subject to the approval of FSU as may be required. 

 
Board members also recognize the obligation to support the Museum as individuals, 

including maintaining active membership, contributing to annual campaigns, and 
participating in capital and endowment campaigns and meeting minimum individual 
philanthropic expectations as approved by the Board. 

 
In addition to the foregoing, the Board shall have the following specific duties: 

 
1. Planning 

 
(a) Develop and approve a long range plan including a statement of the 

Board's philosophy and objectives. 

 
(b) Conduct periodic reviews of the Board's philosophy and objectives 

and its long-range plan in achieving these objectives. 

 
(c) Annually review and make recommendations for the Museum's plans 

for funding its strategy. 
 

(d) Review and make recommendations for the Museum's five-year 
financial goals. 

 
(e) Annually review and make recommendations to the President 

regarding the Museum's budget. 

2. Operations 



By Laws 
 

 

 
(a) Nominate candidates for the Director of the Museum for approval by 

the President of FSU, who shall have those responsibilities as outlined 
in Section 1004.45, Florida Statutes. The Director, and other 
employees as designated by the Director, shall act as staff to the 
Foundation and will report to the Board when conducting its authorized 
business and functions. 

 
(b) Review the results achieved by management as compared with the 

Museum's philosophy, annual and long range goals, and the 
performance of similar institutions and make appropriate 
recommendations to the President. Review the financial structure of the 
Museum to assure it is adequate for current needs and long-range 
strategy and make recommendations to the President, as appropriate. 

 
(c) Through the chair, provide candid and constructive guidance to support 

the Director and advise FSU in reviewing the Director’s performance, 
as appropriate. 

 
3. Audit 

 
(a) Review published reports to ensure they properly reflect the operating 

results and financial condition of the Museum. 
 

(b) Annually approve the appointment of independent auditors to conduct 
audits of the Foundation in compliance with State and Federal 
regulations; review the findings of the auditors; transmit and make 
recommendations for improvements or changes to the President of 
FSU. 

 
(c) Review compliance with relevant laws materially affecting the Museum. 

 
 
 

ARTICLE IV 

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Section 1. Annual Meetings. The annual meeting of the Board shall be held in the 
spring of each year at The John and Mable Ringling Museum of Art or at such other place or 
places as may be determined by the Chair. Newly elected officers shall assume their duties 
on July 1 of each year. The Board shall approve its annual budget at the annual meeting. 

Section 2.  Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the 
Chair or by one-third of the members of the Board for any specific purpose. Written notice 
shall be given stating the purpose of such meeting and shall be either delivered to each 
member of the 



By Laws 

4 

 

 

Board or mailed to the last known address of such Director at least forty-eight hours prior 
to the meeting date. 

 
Section 3.  Regular Meetings. The Board shall hold two regular meetings in 

addition to the annual meeting. All meetings shall be held at the Museum unless otherwise 
designated by the Chair. Reasonable notice of such meetings shall be communicated to each 
member of the Board. Notice may be provided by US mail, email, voice communication, or 
overnight delivery at last known address. An agenda of the activities to be conducted at such 
meetings shall be included with and attached to such notice. In addition to the regular 
meetings, the Board may hold additional meetings during each year for such purposes as 
the Chair may direct. The Board may approve fewer meetings in any one year. 

 
Section 4. Compliance with The Florida Government-In-The-Sunshine Law. All 

meetings of the Board and its committees shall be in compliance with the Florida 
Government-in- the-Sunshine Law, Section 286.011, Florida Statutes. 

 
Section 5.  Quorum, Voting. A majority of the members of the Board then in office 

shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The affirmative vote of a majority 
of the Directors present shall be considered the act of the Board at any annual, special or 
regular meeting unless otherwise specified herein. One or more members of the Board may 
be present for all purposes by means of teleconferencing if they are unable to physically 
attend any meeting. 

 
Section 6.  Resignation. Any Director may resign at any time by giving written 

notice of such resignation to the Board and the President of FSU. 

Section 7. Vacancies. Vacancies occurring on the Board shall be filled by the Board 
and President of FSU in accordance with Section 1004.45, Florida Statutes 

 
Section 8. Removal, Termination of Office. Any one or more of the Directors may be 

removed for just cause at any time by the President of FSU upon the recommendation of the 
Board. 

 
Section 9.  Voting of Directors. Each member of the Board shall be entitled to one 

vote only at any meeting thereof on any issue or matter of business before such meeting. 
No member may abstain from voting as to an official decision, ruling or other official act 
except as otherwise provided in Section 286.012, Florida Statutes. 

 
Section 10. Compensation of Directors. Directors of the Board shall receive no 

compensation for their services but may be reimbursed for authorized board related expenses 
while in the performance of their duties as authorized by Section 112.061, Florida Statutes. 

 
Section 11. Liability. The Directors of the Board shall not be personally liable for 

the Foundation’s debts, liabilities or other obligations. 

 
Section 12. Rules of Order. Meetings of the Board shall be conducted according to 
the Modern Rules of Order. 



By Laws 
 

 

 
ARTICLE V 

OFFICERS 

Section 1. Officers. The officers of the Board shall include a Chair, Vice-Chair, 
Treasurer, Secretary, and such other officers as the Board may from time to time determine 
and elect or appoint. The officers shall be elected annually by and from the Board at its annual 
meeting. Any vacancy arising in any office, the incumbent of which is chosen by the Board, 
may be filled at any meeting by the Chair of the Board with the approval of the Board. The 
terms of officers elected by the Board shall be twelve (12) months or such other term as 
approved by the Board of Directors. No officer may serve in the same position for more than 
twenty-four (24) consecutive months. Provided however, if a Director’s term as a Board 
member has expired while said Director is completing his or her term as an officer of the 
Board, then said Director shall continue to act in the office to which he or she was elected 
until replaced. 

 
Section 2. Powers and Duties. Individually, the officers designated below shall have 

the following general powers and duties: 
 

A. Chair of the Board 
 

1. Assure that the Board fulfills its responsibilities as provided in Section 
1004.45, Florida Statutes. 

 
2. Optimize the relationship among the Board, FSU and the Director of 

the Museum. 
 

3. Chair meetings of the Board; see that it functions effectively, interacts 
with the Director of the Museum and such staff assigned to the 
Foundation and fulfills all of its duties. With the Director, develop 
agendas. 

 
4. Establish standing committees or ad hoc committees to review 

activities in specific areas. 

 
5. With the advice of the Officers, appoint committee chairs. With the 

advice of committee chairs, appoint members of the standing and ad 
hoc committees. 

 
6. Assist the Director in recruiting Board and other talent for whatever 

volunteer assignments are needed. 
 

7. Reflect any concerns the Director of the Museum has in regard to the 
role of the Board or individual members of the Board. Advise the 
Director of the concerns of the Board and other constituencies. On an 
annual basis and with the Vice Chair, provide input to the Provost, the 



By Laws 

6 

 

 

Provost’s designee. or such other individual as may be designated by FSU, 
regarding the Director’s performance. 

 

8. Present to the Board an evaluation of the pace, direction and 
organizational strength of the Museum. 

 
9. Annually focus the Board's attention on matters of Museum governance 

that relate to its own structure, role and relationship to management. 
Be assured that the Board is satisfied it has fulfilled all of its 
responsibilities. 

 
10. Fulfill such other assignments as the Chair and Director agree are 

appropriate and desirable for the Chair to perform. 

 
B. Vice Chair 

The Vice Chair shall act for the Chair in the Chair’s absence. In addition, the 
Vice Chair shall have and perform such other duties as may be delegated by 
the Chair. 

 
C. Treasurer 

The Treasurer shall be responsible to the Board for review of the collection, 
receipt, custody and safekeeping of Foundation funds. The Treasurer shall 
make reports on the financial status of the Foundation to the Chair and to the 
Board at all meetings of the Board. 

 
D. Secretary 

The Secretary shall be responsible for oversight of the recording of the minutes 
and shall keep accurate records of all proceedings of the Board and all 
committees thereof; and shall discharge any other duties delegated by the 
Board or these Bylaws. In the absence of the Secretary, an Assistant Secretary 
or Secretary Pro Tempore designated by the person presiding at the meeting, 
shall perform the duties of the Secretary. 

 
E. Director 

The Director shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Museum and the 
Director and any museum staff designated by the Director designees shall be 
staff to the Foundation. 

 
Responsibilities 

 
Board of Directors- Individual Members 

 
1. With the Chair of the Board, develop agendas for meetings, so that the 

Board can fulfill all its responsibilities effectively. Develop an annual 
calendar to cover all crucial issues in a timely fashion. 

 
2. See that the Board and the Chair are kept fully informed on the condition 



By Laws 
 

 

of the Museum and Foundation on all important factors influencing it. 

3. Get the best thinking and involvement of each Board member. 
Stimulate each Director to give his/her best. 

 
4. Work with the Chair to make the committee structure of the Board 

function effectively. 
 

5. Recommend to the Chair the composition of the Board committees. 

 
6. Review and sign the Board of Directors Annual Expectations Statement. 

 
7. Participate in the Annual Self-Evaluation of the Board, its committees, 

and the Director. 

 
8. Understand and embrace the Roles and Responsibilities of the 

Board of Directors. 
 
 

Section 3. Removal. Any Board officer may be removed from office with or without 
cause at any duly noticed meeting by a two-third (2/3) majority vote of the entire current 
Board. 

 
Section 4.  Vacancies. In the event of a vacancy occurring in any office on the 

Board, the Chair with the approval of the Board, shall appoint another Board member to 
carry out the unexpired term. 

 
 
 

ARTICLE VI 

COMMITTEES 

The following standing committees will be established by the Chair: 

Section 1. Budget, Finance and Investment Advisory Committee. Consists of 
members designated by the Chair. It reviews all budgets, fiscal and business transactions 
which require action of the Board. The committee shall also oversee the management of the 
investments of the foundation and make recommendations to the Board. 

 
Section 2. Collections Committee. Consists of members designated by the Chair. The 

Committee shall review and recommend to the Board the acquisition of all objects of art and 
artifacts whether by gift or purchase, the deaccession of objects, and the loan of objects 
from the Museum's collection. It shall review and recommend to the Board, policy regarding 
acquisition, deaccession, loans, and conservation. It shall also serve as an advocate to the 
Board of all matters relating to the collections. The Committee will work with the 
Development Committee to secure funding to underwrite new acquisitions and to seek 
potential donations of appropriate kind and quality. 



By Laws 

8 

 

 

Section 3. Strategic Planning Committee. Consists of members designated by the 
Chair. It shall review, evaluate, and present to the Board of Directors an annual update on 
progress toward meeting the Strategic Plan. The Committee will review and approve 
proposed initiatives to achieve goals prior to the annual budgeting process of the staff and 
Board and make certain these tactics are reflected in the budget. From time to time, the 
Committee may add additional strategic goals, initiatives, and strategies. Unless otherwise 
determined by the Board, every 3-5 years a new Strategic Plan will be adopted by the Board. 

Section 4. Development Committee. Consists of members designated by the Chair. 
It shall review, evaluate and present to the Board of Directors proposals for long-range 
planning for the development program; review, evaluate and present to the Board any 
proposals for the development of revenue sources for the Museum to support general 
Museum operations, collections, programs, exhibitions, performances, and outreach; identify 
such sources; and develop, present and implement such programs as approved by the Board. 

 
Section 5. Facilities Committee. Consists of members designated by the Chair. The 

Committee shall be familiar with grounds and facilities of The Ringling. The Committee shall 
review and comment on changes to the master plan for the Museum campus and report to 
the Board regarding changes to said plan; and on proposed major new construction or 
renovation projects in terms of need, priority, location, aesthetics, and funding; review and 
report on proposed capital expenditures, substantial facilities repairs and renovations; and 
review campus safety, emergency preparation, and property insurance matters as needed. 
Collection Committee responsibilities related to buildings and grounds have been delegated 
to the Facilities Committee. 

 
Section 6. Audit Committee. Consists of members designated by the Chair. The 

Committee shall make recommendations for selection of the Board's independent auditors. 
The Committee shall meet at least annually with the independent auditors in order to receive 
directly their comments and reports and review the audit procedures. It shall also review all 
financial dealings of the Foundation, including the annual audit and review and advise the 
Board and present recommendations as may be necessary to ensure proper accounting of 
funds and financial transactions of the Foundation. 

 
Section 7. Board Governance Committee. The Board Governance Committee shall 

consist of members designated by the Chair. The Committee shall nominate persons for 
election as officers of the Board and present the Board with its recommendations at the 
spring Board meeting of each year. Membership of committees and committee chairmen shall 
be designated by the Chair of the Board. The Committee shall also recommend to the Board 
individuals to be nominated by the Board as new Directors of the Board for approval by the 
President of FSU. In addition, the Committee shall be charged with promoting Model 
Governance for the Board of Directors as a whole and recommending any necessary and 
useful changes in the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws or procedures of the Board. 

 
Section 8. Executive Committee. Consists of the Officers of the Board as defined in 

Article V along with the Chairs of all Standing Committees as listed in ARTICLE VI. The prior 
Board Chair shall also serve on this Committee providing the prior Chair is still a current 
member in good standing of the Board. The Committee shall meet at such times as determined 
by the Board Chair to consider matters that need attention prior to regularly scheduled Board 



By Laws 
 

 

meetings and cannot await action at the full Board meeting. The Executive Committee shall 
be authorized to exercise all powers given to the Board by the Florida Statutes, these Bylaws 
and resolutions previously adopted by the Board, but the Committee shall not be authorized 
to: 

 
a. Elect Officers and appoint other officials. 

 
b. Amend these Bylaws. 

 
c. Fill vacancies and elect new directors to the Board. 

d. Remove Foundation Officers or Directors. 
 

e. Authorize any single expenditure of more than $50,000 annually from 
Ringling Foundation funds. 

 
f. Authorize action regarding loans, sale, deaccession or acquisitions of works of 

art and the pledging of assets except in authorizing the Director with the 
approval of the Collections Committee Chair to bid at auction for works of art or 
other time-sensitive acquisitions or loans. 

 
Notice of meetings of the Executive Committee shall be given in the manner provided 

in these bylaws for meetings for the Board. Any actions taken shall be specifically and 
separately reported to the full Board by the Board Chair at its next meeting. 

 
Section 9. Special, Ad Hoc, and Task Force Committees. In addition to the foregoing 

standing committees, special committees, ad hoc committees, or task force committees may 
be established by the Chair, who shall appoint the members and appoint the Chair of the 
committee. 

 
Section 10. Committee Rules; Outside Members. All committees shall use a current 

edition of the Modern Rules of Order and each Committee Chair shall determine the 
structure, time, and length of its meetings. With the exception of the Governance Committee, 
the Chair, after conferring with the Director and the Board, may appoint for up to one-year 
terms with the possibility of reappointment, members of the general public to serve as 
members of standing or special committees of the Board. However, at no time shall the non- 
Board members of any committee exceed the number of Board members on any committee, 
unless approved by the Board, with the exception of the Development Committee, whose 
non-Board membership may exceed fifty percent (50%) of the committee membership. The 
Chair of each committee must be a member of the Board. Non-Board members can stand for 
Board membership after one year following completion of Non-Board member service. 

 
The Chair shall appoint committee chairmen within thirty (30) days after the annual 

meeting for a one-year term. A committee chair may serve more than two consecutive annual 
terms if reappointed to his or her position by the Chair. 

 
In the event that a vacancy occurs in the position of a committee chair, then the Chair 



By Laws 

12 

 

 

shall appoint an individual to carry out the remainder of the terms. Except as otherwise 
provided by law, 50% of the members of any committee, shall constitute a quorum at all 
meetings of such committee except the Executive Committee which requires a majority of the 
members. When a quorum is present at any committee meeting, a vote of the majority of the 
members present and voting shall be necessary and sufficient for the decision of any 
question brought before the meeting, except as otherwise provided by law. Minutes of 
committee meetings will be kept and may be in abbreviated form. 

 
 
 

ARTICLE VII BUDGET 

No later than the spring regular meeting of each fiscal year, the Director or Director’s 
his designee shall prepare and present to the Budget, Finance and Investment Advisory 
Committee a recommended Foundation budget for the next fiscal year. The Committee will 
recommend the Foundation budget to the Board for approval and subsequent review by the 
President of FSU. 

 
ARTICLE VIII  

CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Any duality of interest on the part of any Director should be disclosed to the Board 
and made a matter of record through an annual procedure and also when the interest 
becomes a matter of Board action. 

 
Except as otherwise mandated by law, any Director having a duality of interest shall 

not vote or use his or her personal influence on the matter, and he or she shall not be 
counted in determining the quorum for the meeting. The minutes of the meeting shall reflect 
that a disclosure was made, the abstention from voting and the quorum situation. In all cases 
such Director shall comply with the disclosure requirements under the Florida Government- 
in-the-Sunshine Law, Section 286.011, Florida Statutes. 

 
 
 

ARTICLE IX 

FISCAL YEAR 

The fiscal year of the Foundation shall be the year ending with the 30th day of June in 
each year. 

 
 
 
 

 



By Laws 
 

 

ARTICLE X 

AMENDMENTS 
 

These Bylaws may be amended at any regular or special meetings of the Board by a 
vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the entire Board then in office with approval by the President of 
FSU, provided that notice in writing of the proposed change shall have been sent at least ten 
(10) days in advance of the meeting at which such change is to be considered. 

 
 

ARTICLE XI 

INDEMNIFICATION PROVISIONS 

Section 1. Indemnification for Directors. Except as otherwise directed by the 
Board, any Director or officer of the Board made a party to an action or proceeding, whether 
civil or criminal, by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a Director or officer of the 
Board, or for any alleged act or omission while in any such capacity, shall be indemnified by 
the Foundation and Museum to the extent permitted by law and only to the extent that the 
status of the Foundation as an organization exempt under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code is not affected thereby. Indemnification shall include expenses, including but 
not limited to attorneys’ fees and disbursements incurred by any such person in defending 
any such action, suit or proceeding and may be paid from time to time by the Foundation in 
advance of the final disposition of said action, suit or proceedings. 

 
Section 2. Officers and Employees. By the same procedures set forth in the 

preceding paragraph, the Board may vote to extend indemnification provisions substantially 
similar to those rights and subject to those limitations described above to other officers, 
employees or agents of the Foundation and any such organization in which the Foundation 
has an interest. 

 
Section 3. Non-Waiver of Other Rights. The right or grant of indemnification hereby 

provided shall not be exclusive of or affect the protection of sovereign or qualified immunity 
or any other rights to which any Director, office, employee or agent may be entitled or which 
may lawfully be granted to such person. As used herein, the terms "Director," "officer," 
"employee" and "agent" include their respective executors, administrators and other legal 
representatives. 

 
Section 4. Insurance. By action of the Board, notwithstanding any interest of the 

Directors in such action, the Foundation may recommend the purchase and maintenance of 
insurance, in such amounts as the Board may from time to time deem appropriate, on behalf 
of any person who is or was a Director, officer, employee or other agent of the Foundation or 
was serving at the request of the Foundation, as Director, officer, employee or other agent 
of the Foundation and any other such organization in which the Foundation has an interest, 
against any liability incurred by such person in any such capacity, or arising out of his or her 
status as such, whether or not the Foundation would have the power to indemnify such 
person against such liability. 



By Laws 

14 

 

 

ARTICLE XII RECORDS 
 

The Board shall maintain correct and proper books and records and shall keep 
minutes of all the meetings of the Board, at the executive offices of the Museum. All such 
records may be inspected by any Director, or the agent or the attorney of same, or any 
proper person, at any reasonable time in accordance with Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. 

 
 
 

DATED and ADOPTED this 31st day of August, 2000, and AMENDED 
March 12, 2001, June 27, 2003, April 29, 2005, April 20, 2007, June 25, 2010, April 8, 2011,  

June 24, 2011, April 8, 2016, October 13, 2017, May 4, 2018, January 31, 2025  
 

Amendment last Approved by FSU Board of Trustees Directors the 8th day of June, 
2018._______________ 

 
 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE JOHN AND MABLE 
RINGLING MUSEUM OF ART FOUNDATION, INC. 

By: /s/ Paul HudsonMargaret  
Hausberg  
Chair 

 
 

Attest: /s/ Daniel DentonSarah H.  
Pappas  
Secretary 


	FSU-2.004 University Attorney. Regulation Repeal Notice aw.pdf
	FSU-2.004  University Attorney




